

Mortality Determinations for Baleen Whale Stocks along the Gulf of Mexico, United States East Coast, and Atlantic Canadian Provinces, 2007-2011

by Allison G. Henry, Timothy V.N. Cole, Lanni Hall, Wayne Ledwell, David Morin, and Andrew Reid

Mortality Determinations for Baleen Whale Stocks along the Gulf of Mexico, United States East Coast, and Atlantic Canadian Provinces, 2007-2011

by Allison G. Henry¹, Timothy V.N. Cole¹, Lanni Hall², Wayne Ledwell³, David Morin², and Andrew Reid⁴

¹NOAA's National Marine Fisheries Serv., 166 Water St., Woods Hole MA 02543
²NOAA Northeast Regional Office, 55 Great Republic Dr., Gloucester, MA 01930-2276
³Whale Release and Strandings Group, 244 Tolt Rd., Portugal Cove-St. Philip's, Newfoundland, CAN A1M 1R2
⁴Marine Animal Response Society, c/o Nova Scotia Museum, 1747 Summer St., Halifax, Nova Scotia CAN B3H 3A6

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE

National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration National Marine Fisheries Service Northeast Fisheries Science Center Woods Hole, Massachusetts

Northeast Fisheries Science Center Reference Documents

This series is a secondary scientific series designed to assure the long-term documentation and to enable the timely transmission of research results by Center and/or non-Center researchers, where such results bear upon the research mission of the Center (see the outside back cover for the mission statement). These documents receive internal scientific review, and most receive copy editing. The National Marine Fisheries Service does not endorse any proprietary material, process, or product mentioned in these documents.

All documents issued in this series since April 2001, and several documents issued prior to that date, have been copublished in both paper and electronic versions. To access the electronic version of a document in this series, go to http://www.nefsc.noaa.gov/nefsc/publications/. The electronic version is available in PDF format to permit printing of a paper copy directly from the Internet. If you do not have Internet access, or if a desired document is one of the pre-April 2001 documents available only in the paper version, you can obtain a paper copy by contacting the senior Center author of the desired document. Refer to the title page of the document for the senior Center author's name and mailing address. If there is no Center author, or if there is corporate (i.e., non-individualized) authorship, then contact the Center's Woods Hole Laboratory Library (166 Water St., Woods Hole, MA 02543-1026).

Information Quality Act Compliance: In accordance with section 515 of Public Law 106-554, the Northeast Fisheries Science Center completed both technical and policy reviews for this report. These predissemination reviews are on file at the NEFSC Editorial Office.

This document may be cited as:

Henry AG, Cole TVN, Hall L, Ledwell W, Reid A. 2013. Mortality determinations for baleen whale stocks along the Gulf of Mexico, United States east coast and Atlantic Canadian provinces, 2007-2011. US Dept Commer, Northeast Fish Sci Cent Ref Doc. 13-18; 15 p. Available from: National Marine Fisheries Service, 166 Water Street, Woods Hole, MA 02543-1026, or online at http://nefsc.noaa.gov/publications/

Contents

ABSTRACTiv
INTRODUCTION
METHODS
Confirmation Criteria for Species and Mortality Event
Human-induced Mortality Determinations
Assignment to Country
RESULTS
DISCUSSION5
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS5
LITERATURE CITED6
Table 1. Summary of all unique large whale mortalities observed along the Gulf of Mexico Coast, US East Coast and Atlantic Canadian Provinces, 2007-2011. Determinations of human-caused mortality follow the criteria established by the NEFSC.
Table 2. Confirmed human-caused mortality records of baleen whale stocks along the Gulf of Mexico, US East Coast and Atlantic Canadian Provinces, 2007-2011
Table 3. Summary of country of origin for all confirmed human-caused mortalities of large whales along the Gulf of Mexico, US East Coast and Atlantic Canadian Provinces, 2007-2011

ABSTRACT

The Northeast Fisheries Science Center (NEFSC) developed criteria to evaluate reports of human-caused mortality to baleen whales. The criteria minimize the likelihood of incorrectly assigning whale mortalities to human causes and provide a minimum count of human-caused events. This report describes determinations made for reports received from 2007-2011 involving North Atlantic right (Eubalaena glacialis), humpback (Megaptera novaeangliae), fin (Balaenoptera physalus), sei (B. borealis), blue (B. musculus), minke (B. acutorostrata), and Bryde's (B. edeni) whales observed along coastal Gulf of Mexico, the eastern seaboard of the United States, and the Atlantic Canadian provinces. We confirmed a total of 306 mortalities: 56 (18%) due to human interaction; 14 (5%) due to natural causes; and 236 (77%) which lacked sufficient evidence to determine cause of death. Of the human-caused mortalities, 28 were due to entanglement and 28 were vessel strike. Minke whales had the greatest number of entanglement mortalities (n=9) and humpback whales had the greatest number of vessel strike mortalities (n=9). These mortality numbers are minimum counts because of a low probability of detecting events and inadequate documentation for the majority of events that are detected. Despite the minimum values, the mean annual confirmed human-caused mortality rate exceeds PBR for four of the seven stocks examined, including North Atlantic right, humpback, sei, and Bryde's whales. The true level of anthropogenic mortality to these stocks is greater than these minimum values, but the amount greater is unknown.

INTRODUCTION

The NOAA National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) is required to estimate annual rates of human-caused mortality and serious injury to marine mammal stocks occurring regularly in US waters. The agency is also charged with developing plans to reduce the rate of human-caused mortality and serious injury to strategic stocks to levels below their Potential Biological Removal (PBR). The PBR is defined as the maximum number of animals, not including natural mortalities, which may be removed from a marine mammal stock while allowing that stock to reach or maintain its optimum sustainable population size (Wade and Angliss 1997). The average rate of human-caused mortality and serious injury for the most recent five years of data is reported for each species in the annual marine mammal stock assessment report (SAR; e.g., Waring et al. 2013). This rate, when compared to a population's PBR, is used to determine the status of a stock within the relevant SAR.

This report presents the method and results of applying cause-of-death determination criteria that establish the minimum annual rates of confirmed human-caused mortality for North Atlantic right (*Eubalaena glacialis*), humpback (*Megaptera novaeangliae*), fin (*Balaenoptera physalus*), sei (*B. borealis*), blue (*B. musculus*), minke (*B. acutorostrata*), and Bryde's (*B. edeni*) whale stocks along the Gulf of Mexico, the eastern seaboard of the US, and the Atlantic Canadian provinces for the period 2007-2011. Serious injuries and their causes are reported elsewhere (Cole and Henry, *in prep*).

METHODS

Members of the US and Canadian regional stranding networks, large whale disentanglement teams, the US and Canadian Coast Guards, and the general public provided opportunistic marine mammal stranding and human interaction reports to the NMFS Northeast Regional Office (NERO), Southeast Regional Office (SERO), or the Northeast Fisheries Science Center (NEFSC). With the exception of minke whales, the incidental take of whales recorded by fisheries observer programs are also included here because the numbers of observed takes were not sufficient to calculate bycatch rate estimates. These reports were therefore treated as opportunistic. The Regional Offices obtained all available information for each report (photos, necropsy reports, etc.), which was then reviewed by NEFSC and NERO staff members. Confirmed reports were designated "events," and for each event the species involved was verified, duplicate records identified, and relevant information from each source consolidated into a single record. Information from additional sightings of a previously documented event was added to the existing record. Pre-event sighting and demographic information for whales was obtained, where available, from local population-monitoring studies. NEFSC staff reviewed each mortality event and assigned a cause of death following the confirmation criteria listed below. One staff member reviewed all determinations each year to ensure consistency in the application of determination criteria within and across years.

Events from Newfoundland and Labrador involving confirmed transboundary stocks (i.e., stocks that enter US waters during part of the year) were also included. However, humpback events from these regions were not included in tallies because the Newfoundland and Labrador humpback feeding stocks are distinct from the Gulf of Maine stock found in US waters (Palsbøll et al. 2001).

Confirmation Criteria for Species and Mortality Event (listed in order of certainty)

The species and/or mortality event was considered confirmed if it met one of the following criteria:

- 1. Photographs or video allowed identification;
- 2. A marine mammal expert reported the mortality event and/or species as certain; or
- 3. The report was made by a trained observer or member of the stranding network and was then verified via interview by NMFS or stranding network staff.

The species and/or mortality event was considered confirmed in the following less certain cases:

- 1. Photographs or video allowed probable identification;
- 2. A marine mammal expert reported the mortality event and/or species as probable;
- 3. An inexperienced observer's report allowed probable identification; or
- 4. An inexperienced observer's report was verified via interview by NMFS or stranding network staff.

The species and/or mortality event was considered unconfirmed if:

- 1. Photographs or video were of insufficient quality to verify;
- 2. An inexperienced observer's report lacked photographs or video and/or detail to confirm:
- 3. An incomplete examination did not allow for identification; or
- 4. A carcass was too decomposed to identify.

Human-induced Mortality Determinations

Events were categorized as entanglement mortalities if one of the following indications were confirmed to be present on a whale carcass:

- 1. Fishing line constricted any body part, and subdermal hemorrhaging or extensive necrosis was present at point of attachment;
- An extensive entanglement was evident;
- 3. An entanglement prevented feeding; or
- 4. A code 2 (fresh dead) whale was pulled up during fishing operations.

Events were categorized as vessel strike mortalities if one of the following indications was confirmed to be present on a whale carcass:

- 1. Large linear laceration(s) was present anywhere on body, as opposed to just dorsally as in Kraus (1990);
- 2. Large area(s) of subdermal hemorrhaging, hematoma, or edema was evident;
- 3. Extensive skeletal fracturing was evident; or
- 4. A code 2 (fresh dead) carcass was found on the bow of a ship.

Assignment to Country

We assigned entanglement mortalities to either the US or Canada based on the entangling gear's country of origin. Identification of gear type and country of origin was conducted by NERO, Marine Animal Response Society, or the Whale Release and Strandings Group. NERO's results are included in annual Atlantic Large Whale Take Reduction Team (TRT) reports. Identified fisheries are categorized in the List of Fisheries (LOF) according to their frequency of incidental mortality or serious injury to marine mammal stocks (50 CFR Parts 216 and 229¹).

If gear identification was lacking, a country assignment was made if circumstances clearly indicated in whose waters the event occurred, e.g., apparent duration of the entanglement and distance from the US/Canadian border (Hague Line). If there was a reasonable chance that the event may have occurred in either country's waters, the country assignment was listed as unknown. Events placed in this category were typically mortalities either first detected near the US/Canadian border; mortalities involving severely decomposed carcasses that potentially drifted across jurisdictions; or mortalities stemming from chronic entanglement injuries.

Vessel collision mortalities were assigned to a country according to the location of the carcass. This differs from the country assignment of entanglements because vessel collision mortalities are more likely to be instantaneous (Kraus 1990; Moore et al. 2004). The country assignment was listed as unknown if there was an equal chance that the event occurred in either country's waters.

RESULTS

From 2007 through 2011, a total of 306 mortalities was documented, of which 56 (18%) were confirmed to be the result of human interactions; 14 (5%) were due to natural causes; and 236 (77%) had insufficient evidence to determine cause of death. Of the human-caused mortalities, 28 were due to entanglement and 28 were due to vessel strike. Table 1 gives the tallies of mortalities and the cause of death by stock for the period. Table 2 provides details, by stock, of each confirmed human interaction event that resulted in mortality. The LOF column indicates entanglement events to be used in categorizing the responsible fishery in the List of Fisheries.

¹ See http://www.nmfs.noaa.gov/pr/pdfs/fr/fr60-45086.pdf

Over the 5-year period, there were 17 verified mortalities of North Atlantic right whales. Of these, 4 were due to entanglements, 2 due to vessel strikes, 5 due to natural causes, and 6 for which the cause could not be determined.

With 98 confirmed mortalities, humpbacks were the species most commonly observed dead. Of these mortalities, 8 were due to entanglement, 9 due to vessel strike, 1 due to natural causes, and cause of death was undetermined for the remaining 80 events. We assumed all humpback events occurring in or near US and southeast Canadian waters involved the Gulf of Maine stock unless a whale was confirmed to be from another stock. Humpback events from Labrador and Newfoundland were assumed to not involve the Gulf of Maine stock and are therefore not included in the tallies.

There were 32 verified fin whale mortalities: 5 were due to entanglement; 7 due to vessel strikes; 4 due to natural causes; and 16 were from undetermined causes.

Of the 7 events involving sei whale mortalities, 1 was attributed to entanglement, 3 to vessel strikes, and cause of death was undetermined for the remaining 3 events.

Minke whales were involved in 87 verified mortality events, of which 9 were due to entanglements, 5 due to vessel strikes, 4 due to natural causes, and cause of death was undetermined for the remaining 69 events.

Bryde's whales had the lowest number of documented events -- one mortality -- which was a result of vessel strike.

Blue whales had two documented events. Both were mortalities where cause of death could not be determined.

In 62 of the 306 confirmed unique large whale mortality events during 2007-2011, positive species identification was not possible. In 3 of the 62 events, the similarity in body shape and size between fin and sei whales prevented us from distinguishing which of these two species were involved. In another 13 events, the whales could only be identified as balaenopteridae based on the presence of ventral pleats. The taxonomic identity of the whales involved in the remaining 46 events could not be assigned with any certainty. Of these mortalities involving unidentified species, one was attributed to entanglement and one to vessel strike. The cause of death could not be determined for the remaining 60 mortalities.

Mortality tallies by country are presented in Table 3, and include a total of 7 Canadian entanglements (3 identified by gear and 4 assigned by location of first detection) and 10 US entanglements (4 identified by gear and 6 assigned by location of first detection). The remaining 11 entanglement events that resulted in mortality could not be assigned to either country's waters with a high degree of certainty. Twenty-six of 28 confirmed collision events leading to death were first detected in US waters. One event was found close to the US and Canadian boundary so the location of the interaction could not be established. The remaining

event involved an international commercial vessel carrying a fresh, unidentified whale carcass on its bow. It could not be determined if the strike occurred in US or international waters.

DISCUSSION

Our criteria attempt to encompass all event scenarios and minimize the likelihood of incorrectly assigning whale mortalities to human causes. The resulting values provide the minimum count of confirmed human-caused mortality for baleen whale stocks along the Gulf of Mexico, US east coast and the Atlantic Canadian provinces. These values also do not consider observed serious injuries that are presumed to result in mortality. Despite the minimum values, the annual confirmed human-caused mortality rates exceed PBR for four of the seven stocks examined – including North Atlantic right, humpback, sei, and Bryde's whales – with PBRs of 0.9, 2.7, 0.5 and 0.1, respectively (Waring et al. 2013).

Differentiating injuries that cause mortalities from preexisting injuries or postmortem damage is problematic but can be accomplished through necropsy or, in many cases, parsimonious evaluation of available evidence. For example, fishing line constrictions can be considered circumstantial evidence of premortem entanglement, as these constrictions are likely the result of force applied by an active animal. Large linear (non-wrapping) lacerations can be considered an indication of a premortem vessel collision since only whales at depth would be exposed to the propellers of a ship; floating carcasses would likely be pushed aside by the ship's bow wave (Knowlton et al. 1995).

However, carcasses detected at sea often cannot be examined sufficiently for either internal or even external indications of injury. Most notably, vessel collisions frequently lack external evidence and may not be detected unless a necropsy is conducted. Necropsies frequently identify subdermal hemorrhaging or hematomas, the result of blunt trauma and the circulation of blood at the time of injury.

Given the likelihood that not all entanglement and vessel strike mortalities are detected, that the criteria applied here are designed to minimize the likelihood of incorrectly assigning whale mortalities to human causes, and that observed serious injuries are not considered here, the numbers in this report represent minimum values for confirmed human-caused mortality to baleen whale stocks along the Gulf of Mexico, the US east coast, and the Atlantic Canadian provinces. The true level of anthropogenic impact to these stocks is greater than these minimum values, but the amount greater is unknown.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are especially grateful to the Gulf of Mexico, US, and Canadian Maritime Provinces and Newfoundland stranding and entanglement networks, whose members searched for and examined whales both live and dead. It is a difficult, dirty and ceaseless job that deserves special recognition. The United States Coast Guard was instrumental in conveying sightings reported by mariners, investigating carcasses at sea, and assisting in disentanglement efforts. We are also grateful to the staffs of the Provincetown Center for Coastal Studies (PCCS), New England Aquarium (NEA), Whale Center of New England (WCNE), NOAA aerial survey teams, Sea to Shore Alliance, the states of Florida and Georgia, Northeast Fisheries Observer Program, Marine Animal Response Society, New Brunswick Museum, Atlantic Veterinary College, Grand Manan Whale and Seabird Research Station, Whale Release and Stranding Group, and many others for providing the sightings that have allowed this work to be conducted. Betty Lentell, Kathryn Roy, and William Greer assisted in verifying fishery observer program records. NEA, PCCS and WCNE provided sighting histories and demographic information. Members of the Atlantic Scientific Review Group have provided numerous helpful comments on the protocols described here. We also thank the anonymous reviewers of earlier drafts of this report.

LITERATURE CITED

- Cole TVN, Henry AG. Serious injury determinations for baleen whale stocks along the Gulf of Mexico, United States East Coast and Atlantic Canadian Provinces, 2007-2011. *In prep.*
- Knowlton AR, Korsmeyer FT, Kerwin JE, Wu H, Hynes B. 1995. The hydrodynamic effects of large vessels on right whales. Boston (MA): New England Aquarium. Final report to NOAA Fisheries for Contract No. 40EANFF400534.
- Kraus SD. 1990. Rates and potential causes of mortality in North Atlantic right whales (*Eubalaena glacialis*). Mar Mamm Sci. 6(4):278-291.
- Moore MJ, Knowlton AR, Kraus SD, McLellan WA, Bonde RK. 2004. Morphometry, gross morphology and available histopathology in North Atlantic right whale (*Eubalaena glacialis*) mortalities (1970–2002). J Cetacean Res Manage. 6(3):199-214.
- Palsbøll PJ, Allen J, Anderson TH, Bérubé M, Clapham PJ, Feddersen TP, Friday N, Hammond P, Jørgensen H, Katona SK, Larsen AH, Larsen F, Lien J, Mattila DK, Nygaard FB, Robbins J, Sponer R, Sears R, Sigurjónsson J, Smith TD, Stevick PT, Vikingsson G, Øien N. 2001. Stock structure and composition of the North Atlantic humpback whale, *Megaptera novaeangliae*. Cambridge (UK): International Whaling Commission. Presented to International Whaling Commission Scientific Committee. SC/53/NAH11.
- Wade PR, Angliss RP. 1997. Guidelines for assessing marine mammal stocks: Report of the GAMMS Workshop, April 3-5, 1996, Seattle, Washington. Seattle (WA): NMFS Alaska Fisheries Science Center. US Dept of Commer, NOAA Tech Memo, NMFS-OPR-12.
- Waring GT, Josephson E, Maze-Foley K, Rosel PE, editors. 2013. U.S. Atlantic and Gulf of Mexico Marine Mammal Stock Assessments -- 2012. NOAA Tech Memo NMFS NE 223; 419 p. Available from: National Marine Fisheries Service, 166 Water Street, Woods Hole, MA 02543-1026, or online at http://nefsc.noaa.gov/publications/

Table 1. Summary of all unique large whale mortalities observed along the Gulf of Mexico Coast, US East Coast and Atlantic Canadian Provinces, 2007-2011. Determinations of human-caused mortality follow the criteria established by the NEFSC.

Species	Western North Atlantic right whale (Eubalaena glacialis)	Gulf of Maine humpback whale (Megaptera novaeangliae)	Western North Atlantic fin whale (Balaenoptera physalus)	Nova Scotian sei whale (B.borealis)	Western North Atlantic blue whale (B. musculus)	Canadian East Coast minke whale (B. acutorostrata)	Northern Gulf of Mexico Bryde's whale (B. edeni)	Unidentified fin/sei whale	Unidentified balaenopterid ^a	Unidentified whale spp.	Totals
Total confirmed mortalities	17 (3, 3, 4, 3, 4)	98 (21, 27, 21, 18, 11)	32 (8, 5, 5, 6, 8)	7 (1, 3, 2, 0, 1)	2 (0, 0, 0, 1, 1)	87 (20, 17, 9, 15, 26)	1 (0, 0, 1, 0, 0)	3 (1, 0, 0, 2, 0)	13 (2, 0, 1, 5, 5)	46 (6, 8, 6, 11, 15)	306
Confirmed entanglement mortalities	4 (1, 0, 0, 2, 1)	8 (1, 2, 2, 3, 0)	5 (2, 0, 0, 0, 3)	1 (0, 1, 0, 0, 0)	0	9 (1, 4, 0, 0, 4)	0	0	0	1 (1, 0, 0, 0, 0)	28
Confirmed vessel strike mortalities	2 (0, 0, 0, 1, 1)	9 (3, 1, 0, 3, 2)	7 (2, 1, 1, 2, 1)	3 (1, 0, 1, 0, 1)	0	5 (0, 0, 1, 1, 3)	1 (0, 0, 1, 0, 0)	0	0	1 (0, 0, 0, 1, 0)	28
Confirmed mortalities, NOT vessel strike or entanglement	5 (1, 3, 1, 0, 0)	1 (0, 0, 0, 1, 0)	4 (0, 2, 1, 1, 0)	0	0	4 (1, 0, 1, 1, 1)	0	0	0	0	14
Confirmed mortalities,	6 (1, 0, 3, 0, 2)	80 (17, 24, 19, 11, 9)	16 (4, 2, 3, 3, 4)	3 (0, 2, 1, 0, 0)	2 (0, 0, 0, 1, 1)	69 (18, 13, 7, 13, 18)	0	3 (1, 0, 0, 2, 0)	13 (2, 0, 1, 5, 5)	44 (5, 8, 6, 10, 15)	236
Annual Human- Caused Mortality Rate	1.2	3.4	2.4	0.8	0	2.8	0.2	0	0	0.4	11.2

^a Described as having throat grooves (rorqual pleats).

^b IITD = insufficient information to determine cause of death or if the injury was serious and likely lethal.

Table 2. Confirmed human-caused mortality records of baleen whale stocks along the Gulf of Mexico, US East Coast and Atlantic Canadian Provinces, 2007-2011.

Date Western No	Individual orth Atlantic r	Catalog #	General Location Eubalaena glacialis)	Cause of Fate	Country of Origin ^a	Country Conf Code ^b	Gear Type ^c	Comments	LOFd
31-Mar-07	U	-	Outer Banks, NC	EN	US	AE	NP	Edema associated w/ pectoral & dorsal & ventral thoracic musculature; epidermal abrasion indicated entangling body & pectoral wraps	1
27-Jun-10	Tips	1124	off Cape May, NJ	EN	XU	CE	NR	Evidence of constricting rostrum, mouth & pectoral wraps w/ associated hemorrhage & bone damage	1
02-Jul-10	U	-	off Great Wass Island, ME	VS	XU	CE	-	2 large lacerations from dorsal to ventral surface	-
12-Aug-10	U	-	Digby Neck, NS	EN	XC	CE	NP	Evidence of entanglement w/ associated hemorrhaging around right pectoral	1
16-Mar-11	U	-	Cape Romain, SC	EN	XU	CE	GU	Multiple wraps embedded in right pectoral bones; unknown rope	1
27-Mar-11		1308	Nags Head, NC	VS	US	AE	-	Fractured right skull	=

Table 2 Cont'd

Date	Individual		General Location	Cause of Fate	Country of Origin ^a	Country Conf Code ^b	Gear Type ^c	Comments	LOF
Gulf of Mai	ne humpback	whale (Meg	aptera novaeangliae)						
10-May-07	U	-	off Wachapreague, VA	VS	US	AE	-	Cranium shattered, hemorrhaging on left lateral side midway between pectorals & fluke	-
13-May-07	U	-	Rockport, MA	VS	US	AE	-	Areas of hemorrhaging indicate major blunt trauma to chest, neck, & head	-
24-Jun-07	Tofu	8685	Stellwagen Bank	VS	US	AE	-	Subdermal hemorrhaging involving blubber, fascia, & muscle extending from/around the insertion of the right pectoral ventrallly to the axilla	-
21-Dec-07	U	-	Ocean Sands, Corolla, NC	EN	XU	CE	NR	Documented wrapped in gear, gear removed w/out permission prior to necropsy; external lesions at flukes, pectorals, mouth, dorsal fin, dorsal keel, & ventral pleats consistent w/ gillnet entanglement; emaciated	1
30-May-08	U	-	Georges Bank	EN	XU	CE	NR	Constricting body wraps, one wrap under lower jaw; open wound on right pectoral	1
09-Jun-08	U	-	Georges Bank	EN	US	GI	PT	Constricting body wrap	1
04-Nov-08	U	-	Assateague Island, MD	VS	US	AE	-	Cranial fractures w/ associated hemorrhaging	-
08-Feb-09	U	-	Cape Fear, NC	EN	XU	CE	NP	Evidence of entanglement at mouthline, peduncle, & pectoral w/ associated hemorrhaging; emaciated	1

Ta			

Date Gulf of Mai	Individual		General Location aptera novaeangliae) co	Cause of Fate	Country of Origin ^a	Country Conf Code ^b	Gear Type ^c	Comments	LOF ^d
16-Feb-09	U	-	Nags Head, NC	EN	XU	CE	NP	Evidence of entanglement involving anchoring or heavily weighted gear w/ associated hemorrhaging	1
13-Mar-10	U	-	Ocean City, MD	VS	US	AE	-	Skull fractures w/ associated hemorrhaging	-
08-May-10	U	-	Narragansett, RI	EN	CN	GI	GN	Evidence of constricting gear w/ associated hemorrhaging; fluid filled lungs	1
28-May-10	U	-	Edgartown, MA	EN	XU	CE	GU	Evidence of entanglement w/ associated bruising & edema; 6" poly netting	1
10-Jun-10	U	-	Jones Beach State Park, NY	VS	US	AE	-	Extensive hemorrhage & edema on right dorsal lateral surface	-
04-Jul-10	U	-	off Assateague, MD	VS	US	AE	-	Extensive hemorrhage & edema to left lateral area	-
27-Nov-10	U	-	Bay of Fundy	EN	XC	CE	NR	Evidence of constricting wraps on fluke, peduncle, & pectoral	1
05-May-11	U	-	Little Compton, RI	VS	US	AE	-	Hemorrhaging at left jaw associated w/ blunt trauma; evidence of healing entanglement injuries	-
27-May-11	U	-	Barnegat Inlet, NJ	VS	US	AE	-	5 broken vertebral processess along left side w/ associated hemorrhaging	-

Table 2 Cont'd

Date Western No.	Individual		General Location	Cause of Fate	Country of Origin ^a	Country Conf Code ^b	Gear Type ^c	Comments	LOF ^d
		in whale (Ba	* * * *						
25-Mar-07	U	-	Norfolk, VA	VS	US	AE	-	Extensive fracturing of ribs, skull, & vertebrae w/ associated hemorrhage & edema	-
24-May-07	U	-	Newark Bay, NJ	VS	US	AE	-	Hemorrhage & multiple fractures of ribs, vertebrae, & sternum; trailing tissue of animal marked by propellar lacerations	-
11-Aug-07	U	-	Cabot Strait, NS	EN	CN	AE	NR	Constricting body wrap around body, between head & pectorals	1
26-Sep-07	U	-	off Martha's Vineyard, MA	EN	US	AE	NR	Freshly dead, scavenged carcass w/ gear present; evidence of multiple body wraps w/ associated hemorrhaging	1
02-Jul-08	U	-	Barnegat Inlet, NJ	VS	US	AE	-	Verterbral fractures w/ associated hemorrhaging; hemorrhaging around ball joint of right pectoral	-
01-Oct-09	U	-	Port Elizabeth, NJ	VS	US	AE	-	Fresh carcass w/ broken pectoral, hematomas, & abrasions	-
18-Mar-10	U	-	off Bethany Beach, DE	VS	US	AE	-	Fractured skull w/ associated hemorrhaging; abrasion middorsal consistent w/ being folded over the bow of a ship	-
03-Sep-10	U	-	Cape Henlopen State Park, DE	VS	US	AE	-	Large laceration & vertebral fractures w/ associated hemorrhaging	-
01-Jan-11	U	-	off Portland, ME	EN	XU	CE	NP	Fresh carcass w/ evidence of constricting gear	1

Table 2 Cont'd

Date	Individual	Catalog #	General Location	Cause of Fate	Country of Origin ^a	Country Conf Code ^b	Gear Type ^c	Comments	LOF ^d
Western No	orth Atlantic f	in whale (<i>Ba</i>	laenoptera physalus) co	nt'd					
05-Jun-11	U	-	off Long Beach, NJ	VS	US	AE	-	Extensive hemorrhage & soft tissue damage to the dorsal & right lateral thoracic region	-
24-Jul-11	U	-	Cheticamp, NS	EN	CN	AE	NP	Fresh carcass w/ evidence of extensive entanglement	1
21-Sep-11	U	-	off Atlantic City, NJ	EN	US	AE	NP	Fresh carcass w/ evidence of extensive entanglement	1
Nova Scotia	n sei whale (E	Balaenoptera	borealis)						
30-May-07	U	-	off Deer Island, MA	VS	US	AE	-	Broken left pectoral, 8 vertebral processes, & 4 ribs; right pectoral sheared off; lower jaw dislocated; hemorrhaging &/or edema associated w/ lower jaw & left pectoral region	-
29-Jun-08	U	-	Slack's Cove, NB	EN	CN	AE	NP	Extensive entanglement evident	1
19-May-09	U	-	off Rehobeth Beach, DE	VS	US	AE	-	Posterior portion of skull & right mandible fractured; hemorrhaging dorsal to left pectoral	-
26-Mar-11	U	-	Virginia Beach, VA	VS	US	AE	-	Jaw, scapula, rib & vertebral fractures along right side w/ associated hemorrhaging	-

Table 2 Cont'd

Date Canadian F	Individual		General Location alaenoptera acutorostrate	Cause of Fate	Country of Origin ^a	Country Conf Code ^b	Gear Type ^c	Comments	LOFd
05-Aug-07	U	-	Cape Cod Bay, MA	EN	XU	CE	GU	Chronic entanglement w/ severe emaciation & dehydration & loss of protein; line lacerated blubber layer across back & at pectoral insertions; severe hemorrhage & necrosis at gear entanglement points	1
14-Jun-08	U	-	Orleans, MA	EN	US	AE	NP	Braided line impressions wrapped body in 3 places & left a deep, hemorrhaged laceration across the rostrum & blowholes; hemorrhaged abrasions present on roof of mouth; wet, bloodfilled lungs indicate drowning	1
23-Jul-08	U	-	Kelligrews, NL	EN	CN	AE	GU	Constricting wraps of gear on caudal peduncle	1
26-Jul-08	U	-	Conception Bay, NL	EN	CN	GI	GN	Constricting wraps of gear through mouth & around tail	1
25-Aug-08	U	-	off Richibucto Cape, NB	EN	CN	CE	NR	Evidence of constricting body wraps	1
20-May-09	U	-	off Point Pleasant, NJ	VS	US	AE	-	Large hemorrhage at right pectoral	-
09-Jul-10	U	-	Fire Island, NY	VS	US	AE	-	3-4 large dorsal lacerations associated w/ fractured ribs	-
06-May-11	U	-	off Martha's Vineyard, MA	EN	US	GI	PT	Anchored in gear; embedded line at fluke; evidence of entanglement w/ associated hemorrhaging at mouth corners & insertion of pectorals	1

Table 2 Cont'd

Date	Individual	Catalog #	General Location	Cause of Fate	Country of Origin ^a	Country Conf Code ^b	Gear Type ^c	Comments	LOF^d
			alaenoptera acutorostrai						
04-Aug-11	U	-	off Sandy Hook, NJ	VS	US	AE	-	4 propellar lacerations across dorsal surface; fractured ribs w/ associated hemorrhaging	-
26-Aug-11	U	-	off Sandy Hook, NJ	EN	US	AE	NP	Fresh carcass w/ evidence of extensive entanglement	1
29-Aug-11	U	-	Moriches, NY	VS	US	AE	-	Extensive hemorrhage & edema along dorsal & both lateral surfaces	-
06-Oct-11	U	-	off Matinicus Island, ME	EN	US	GI	PT	Fresh carcass anchored in gear	1
07-Dec-11	U	-	Carolina Beach, NC	VS	US	AE	-	Healed deep & superficial propellar lacerations; internal lesions associated w/ deep lacerations indicative of peritonitis & infection	-
19-Dec-11	U	-	Bay of Fundy	EN	CN	GI	PT	Live entanglement; recovered dead in gear the following day; constricting peduncle wraps	1
Northern G	ulf of Mexico	Bryde's wha	le (Balaenoptera edeni)						
04-Oct-09	U	-	Tampa, FL	VS	US	AE	-	Vertebral separation; lung damage; subdermal contusions	-
Notoge	•		·					•	

Notes:

- a. CN=Canada, US=United States, XC=Unk 1st sight in CN, XU=Unk 1st sight in US
- b. GI=gear identified, AE=acute/very recent event or confirmed location, CE=chronic/prolonged event without indication of initial location
- $c.\ GN=gillnet,\ GU=gear\ unidentifiable,\quad NP=none\ present,\ NR=none\ recovered/received,\ PT=pot/trap$
- d. Consider for List of Fisheries inclusion (1=yes)

Table 3. Summary of country of origin for all confirmed human-caused mortalities of large whales along the Gulf of Mexico, US East Coast and Atlantic Canadian Provinces, 2007-2011

Event Location	Event Type	Western North Atlantic right whale (Eubalaena glacialis)	Gulf of Maine humpback whale (Megaptera novaeangliae)	Western North Atlantic fin whale (Balaenoptera physalus)	Nova Scotian sei whale (B.borealis)	Western North Atlantic blue whale (B. musculus)	Canadian East Coast minke whale (B. acutorostrata)	Northern Gulf of Mexico Bryde's whale (B. edeni)	Unidentified fin/sei whale	Unidentified balaenopterid ^a	Unidentified whale spp.	Totals
US waters	Entanglement	1	2	2	0	0	4	0	0	0	1	10
	Vessel Strike	1	9	7	3	0	5	1	0	0	0	26
Canadian	Entanglement	0	0	2	1	0	4	0	0	0	0	7
waters	Vessel Strike	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Unassigned	Entanglement	3	6	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	11
waters	Vessel Strike	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	2

^a Described as having throat grooves (rorqual pleats).

Procedures for Issuing Manuscripts in the

Northeast Fisheries Science Center Reference Document (CRD) Series

Clearance

All manuscripts submitted for issuance as CRDs must have cleared the NEFSC's manuscript/abstract/ webpage review process. If any author is not a federal employee, he/she will be required to sign an "NEFSC Release-of-Copyright Form." If your manuscript includes material from another work which has been copyrighted, then you will need to work with the NEFSC's Editorial Office to arrange for permission to use that material by securing release signatures on the "NEFSC Use-of-Copyrighted-Work Permission Form."

For more information, NEFSC authors should see the NEFSC's online publication policy manual, "Manuscript/abstract/webpage preparation, review, and dissemination: NEFSC author's guide to policy, process, and procedure," located in the Publications/Manuscript Review section of the NEFSC intranet page.

Organization

Manuscripts must have an abstract and table of contents, and (if applicable) lists of figures and tables. As much as possible, use traditional scientific manuscript organization for sections: "Introduction," "Study Area" and/or "Experimental Apparatus," "Methods," "Results," "Discussion," "Conclusions," "Acknowledgments," and "Literature/References Cited."

Style

The CRD series is obligated to conform with the style contained in the current edition of the United States Government Printing Office Style Manual. That style manual is silent on many aspects of scientific manuscripts. The CRD series relies more on the CSE Style Manual. Manuscripts should be prepared to conform with these style manuals.

The CRD series uses the American Fisheries Society's guides to names of fishes, mollusks, and decapod

crustaceans, the Society for Marine Mammalogy's guide to names of marine mammals, the Biosciences Information Service's guide to serial title abbreviations, and the ISO's (International Standardization Organization) guide to statistical terms.

For in-text citation, use the name-date system. A special effort should be made to ensure that all necessary bibliographic information is included in the list of cited works. Personal communications must include date, full name, and full mailing address of the contact

Preparation

Once your document has cleared the review process, the Editorial Office will contact you with publication needs – for example, revised text (if necessary) and separate digital figures and tables if they are embedded in the document. Materials may be submitted to the Editorial Office as files on zip disks or CDs, email attachments, or intranet downloads. Text files should be in Microsoft Word, tables may be in Word or Excel, and graphics files may be in a variety of formats (JPG, GIF, Excel, PowerPoint, etc.).

Production and Distribution

The Editorial Office will perform a copy-edit of the document and may request further revisions. The Editorial Office will develop the inside and outside front covers, the inside and outside back covers, and the title and bibliographic control pages of the document.

Once both the PDF (print) and Web versions of the CRD are ready, the Editorial Office will contact you to review both versions and submit corrections or changes before the document is posted online.

A number of organizations and individuals in the Northeast Region will be notified by e-mail of the availability of the document online. Research Communications Branch Northeast Fisheries Science Center National Marine Fisheries Service, NOAA 166 Water St. Woods Hole, MA 02543-1026

> MEDIA MAIL

Publications and Reports of the Northeast Fisheries Science Center

The mission of NOAA's National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) is "stewardship of living marine resources for the benefit of the nation through their science-based conservation and management and promotion of the health of their environment." As the research arm of the NMFS's Northeast Region, the Northeast Fisheries Science Center (NEFSC) supports the NMFS mission by "conducting ecosystem-based research and assessments of living marine resources, with a focus on the Northeast Shelf, to promote the recovery and long-term sustainability of these resources and to generate social and economic opportunities and benefits from their use." Results of NEFSC research are largely reported in primary scientific media (*e.g.*, anonymously-peer-reviewed scientific journals). However, to assist itself in providing data, information, and advice to its constituents, the NEFSC occasionally releases its results in its own media. Currently, there are three such media:

NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-NE -- This series is issued irregularly. The series typically includes: data reports of long-term field or lab studies of important species or habitats; synthesis reports for important species or habitats; annual reports of overall assessment or monitoring programs; manuals describing program-wide surveying or experimental techniques; literature surveys of important species or habitat topics; proceedings and collected papers of scientific meetings; and indexed and/or annotated bibliographies. All issues receive internal scientific review and most issues receive technical and copy editing.

Northeast Fisheries Science Center Reference Document -- This series is issued irregularly. The series typically includes: data reports on field and lab studies; progress reports on experiments, monitoring, and assessments; background papers for, collected abstracts of, and/or summary reports of scientific meetings; and simple bibliographies. Issues receive internal scientific review and most issues receive copy editing.

Resource Survey Report (formerly Fishermen's Report) -- This information report is a regularly-issued, quick-turnaround report on the distribution and relative abundance of selected living marine resources as derived from each of the NEFSC's periodic research vessel surveys of the Northeast's continental shelf. This report undergoes internal review, but receives no technical or copy editing.

TO OBTAIN A COPY of a *NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-NE* or a *Northeast Fisheries Science Center Reference Document*, either contact the NEFSC Editorial Office (166 Water St., Woods Hole, MA 02543-1026; 508-495-2350) or consult the NEFSC webpage on "Reports and Publications" (http://www.nefsc.noaa.gov/nefsc/publications/). To access *Resource Survey Report*, consult the Ecosystem Surveys Branch webpage (http://www.nefsc.noaa.gov/femad/ecosurvey/mainpage/).

ANY USE OF TRADE OR BRAND NAMES IN ANY NEFSC PUBLICATION OR REPORT DOES NOT IMPLY ENDORSEMENT.